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Praise for Minette Walters





The Ice House





‘Terrific first novel with a high Rendellesque frisson count’


The Times





The Sculptress





‘A devastatingly effective novel’


Observer





The Scold’s Bridle





‘A gothic puzzle of great intricacy and psychological power’


Sunday Times





The Dark Room





‘A marvellous, dramatically intelligent novel. It shimmers with suspense, ambiguity and a deep unholy joy’


Daily Mail





The Echo





‘It grips like steel . . . Passion, compassion, intelligence and romance are what Walters offers with no quarter for squeamish cowards’ 


Mail on Sunday





The Breaker





‘Stands head and shoulders above the vast majority of crime novels . . . Existing fans will love The Breaker, new readers will be instant converts’


Daily Express





The Shape of Snakes





‘Breaking all the rules of popular fiction, Minette Walters asks as much of her readers as many literary novelists, and yet she offers them a book as gripping as any thriller’


Times Literary Supplement





Acid Row





‘Humane intelligence enables Walters to twist and turn her plot . . . Acid Row is a breathtaking achievement’


Daily Telegraph





Fox Evil





‘Fox Evil is the work of a writer at the peak of her confidence and supreme ability’


The Times





Disordered Minds





‘A powerful, acute and vivid work from a staggeringly talented writer’


Observer





The Tinder Box





‘If there wasn’t a recognised school of crime writing called Home Counties noir before, there is now. Minette Walters invented it and remains the undisputed Head Girl’


Birmingham Post





The Devil’s Feather





‘One of the most powerful yet nuanced practitioners of the psychological thriller . . . always keeps the narrative momentum cracked up to a fierce degree’


Daily Express





Chickenfeed





‘A marvellous little story, thoroughly intimate with human nastiness’


Evening Standard





The Chameleon’s Shadow





‘No wonder Minette Walters is the country’s bestselling female crime writer. But even this label does not exactly do justice to the scope and breadth of her gripping, terrifying novels . . . The Chameleon’s Shadow is another classic’


Daily Mirror









The Echo


With her debut, The Ice House, Minette Walters won the Crime Writers’ Association John Creasey Award for the best first crime novel of 1992. Rapidly establishing a reputation as one of the most exciting crime novelists writing today, her second novel, The Sculptress, was acclaimed by critics as one of the most compelling and powerful novels of the year and won the Edgar Allan Poe Award for the best crime novel published in America in 1993. In 1994 Minette Walters achieved a unique triple when The Scold’s Bridle was awarded the CWA Gold Dagger for best crime novel of the year. Her following five novels, The Dark Room, The Echo, The Breaker, The Shape of Snakes and Acid Row were also published to further critical acclaim throughout the world and her ninth novel, Tox Evil, won the 2003 CWA Gold Dagger for Fiction. Her short novel Chickenfeed was written for World Book Day to encourage emergent readers and was voted the 2006 Quick Reads Readers’ Favourite.


Minette Walters lives in Dorset with her husband and two children.
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For Frank and Mary




The echo began in some indescribable way to undermine her hold on life . . . it had managed a murmur, ‘Pathos, piety, courage – they exist, but are identical, and so is filth. Everything exists, nothing has value.’


E. M. FORSTER (1879–1970)





O Rose, thou art sick!


The invisible worm 


That flies in the night, 


In the howling storm,





Has found out thy bed


Of crimson joy: 


And his dark secret love 


Does thy life destroy.





WILLIAM BLAKE (1757–1827)








 



Chapter One


IT WAS THE smell that Mrs Powell noticed first. Slightly sweet. Slightly unpleasant. She sniffed it on the air one warm June evening as she parked her car in her garage, but she assumed it came from her neighbours’ dustbin on the other side of the low wall that divided the properties, and did nothing about it. The next morning the smell of decay eddied out from inside when she pulled open the garage doors, and curiosity led her to poke among the stack of boxes at the back after she had reversed her car on to the driveway. Certainly, she didn’t expect to find a corpse. If she expected anything, it was that someone had abandoned their rubbish in there, and it shocked her badly to find a dead man huddled on sheets of flattened cardboard in the corner, his head slumped on his knees.


There was a flutter of media interest in the story, largely because of where the man was found – within the boundaries of an exclusive private estate bordering the Thames in London’s old docklands – and because the pathologist gave cause of death as malnutrition. That a man should have died of starvation in one of the wealthiest parts of one of the wealthiest capitals of the world as the twentieth century drew to a close was irresistible to most journalists, the more so when they learned from the police that he had passed away beside a huge chest freezer filled with food. The rat-pack arrived in force.


But they were to be disappointed. Mrs Powell was a reluctant interviewee and had already vanished from her house. Nor was there anyone to flesh out the dead man’s life and make it worth writing about. He was one of the army of homeless who haunted the streets of London, an alcoholic without family or friends, whose fingerprints were recorded under the name of Billy Blake as a result of a handful of convictions for petty thieving. Among London’s policemen he had a small reputation as a street preacher from his habit of shouting aggressively at passers-by about forthcoming doom and destruction whenever he was drunk, but as none of them had ever listened closely to his incoherent ramblings, nothing was added to their knowledge of the man through what he had preached. The only curious fact about him was that he had lied about his age when first arrested in 1991. The police had him on file as sixty-five; while the pathologist’s estimate, as officially recorded at the inquest, was forty-five.


Mrs Powell’s involvement in this bizarre tragedy was that she owned the garage in which Billy had died. However, he preyed upon her mind following her return two weeks later after the morbid press interest had died down and, because she could afford it, she put up the money for his cremation when the coroner finally released the body. She had no need to do it – as in other areas of social welfare, the trappings of death were covered by a state benefit – but she felt an obligation to her uninvited guest. She chose the second cheapest package offered, and presented herself at the crematorium on the due date at the due time. As she had expected, she and the vicar were the only people there, the undertaker’s men having left after depositing the coffin on the rollers. It was a somewhat harrowing service, conducted to the accompaniment of taped music. Elvis Presley sang ‘Amazing Grace’ over the sound system at the beginning, the vicar and she struggled through the service and the responses together (while worrying independently if Billy Blake had even been a Christian), and a Welsh male voice choir gave a harmonious rendition of ‘Abide with Me’ as the coffin rolled through to the burners and the curtains closed discreetly behind it.


There was little more to be said or done and, after shaking hands and thanking each other for being there, Mrs Powell and the vicar went their separate ways. As part of the package, Billy Blake’s ashes were placed in an urn in a small corner of the crematorium with a plaque giving his name and date of death. Sadly, neither piece of information was accurate, for the dead man had not been christened Billy Blake and the pathologist had miscalculated his temperature readings and underestimated the time of death by a few hours.


Whoever Billy Blake was, he died on Tuesday, 13 June 1995.


*


The two visitors who came to view Billy Blake’s plaque a few days later went unnoticed. The older man jabbed a stubby finger at the words and made a derisory noise in his throat. ‘See, what did I tell you? Died twelfth of June 1995. The frigging Monday. Okay? Happy now?’


‘We ought to’ve brought some flowers,’ said his young companion, looking at the profusion of wreaths that other mourners had left in last respects to the recently cremated.


‘There’d be no point, son. Billy’s dead and I’ve yet to meet a corpse ’oo appreciates floral arrangements.’


‘Yeah, but—’


‘But nothing,’ said the old man firmly. ‘I keep telling you, the bugger’s gone.’ He pushed the youngster forward. ‘Satisfy yerself I’m right, and then we’ll be off.’ He glanced around with a look of distaste creasing his weathered face. ‘I never did like these places. It ain’t ’ealthy thinking too much on death. It comes soon enough as it is.’





Despite having her garage cleansed three times in six weeks by three different cleaning companies, Mrs Powell disposed of her chest freezer, shopped rather more frequently and started parking her car in the driveway. Her neighbour remarked on it to his wife, and said it was a pity there was no Mr Powell. No man would allow a perfectly serviceable garage to go to waste simply because a tramp had died in it.




(Extract from Unsolved Mysteries of the Twentieth Century by Roger Hyde, published by Macmillan, 1994)





missing persons


Precisely how many people leave home for good every year in Britain remains a mystery, but if we define ‘missing’ as ‘whereabouts unknown’, then the figure is believed to run into hundreds of thousands. Only a tiny percentage ever hit the headlines, and these are usually children who are abducted and subsequently murdered. Adults rarely attract attention. The most famous missing person of recent years is the Earl of Lucan, who vanished from his estranged wife’s house on 7 November 1974, following the brutal murder of Sandra Rivett, his children’s nanny, and the attempted murder of Lady Lucan. He was never seen again, nor was his body found, but there seems little mystery about why he chose to vanish. Less explicable were the disappearances of two other ‘missing persons’: Peter Fenton, OBE, a Foreign Office ‘high flyer’, and James Streeter, a merchant banker.
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The Case of the Vanishing Diplomat – Peter Fenton, OBE


The disappearance of Peter Fenton during the evening of 3 July 1988, only hours before his wife’s body was discovered in the bedroom of their Knightsbridge home, created a sensation in the British press. The house was less than a mile from where the terrible Lucan tragedy had been played out nearly fourteen years before, and the parallels between Peter Fenton and Lord ‘Lucky’ Lucan were startling. The two men had moved in similar social circles and both were known to have loyal friends who would help them; each man’s car was later found abandoned on the south coast of England, leading to speculation that they had fled across the Channel to France; there was even a bizarre similarity in their appearance, both being tall, dark and conventionally handsome.


But comparisons with the Lucan case ended when the police revealed that, following detailed forensic examination of the house and body, they were satisfied that Verity Fenton had committed suicide. She had hanged herself from a rafter in the attic some time during the evening of 1 July while Peter Fenton was on a five-day visit to Washington. A reconstruction of the evidence suggested that, on his return from America during the afternoon of 3 July, he had found her suicide note on the hall table and then searched the house for her. There seems no doubt that it was he who cut her down and he who laid her out on the bed. Nor is there any doubt that he phoned his stepdaughter and asked her to come to the house that evening with her husband. He did not warn her of what she would find, nor did he mention that he wouldn’t be there, but he told her he would leave the door on the latch. She described him as sounding ‘very tired’.


Unlike Lord Lucan, who was formally committed for trial at the Central Criminal Court after the inquest into the death of Sandra Rivett, Peter Fenton was effectively absolved of blame for the death of his wife, Verity. A verdict of ‘suicide while the balance of her mind was disturbed’ was recorded, following evidence from her daughter that she had been unnaturally depressed while her husband was away. This was borne out by her suicide note which said simply: ‘Forgive me. I can’t bear it any more, darling. Please don’t blame yourself. Your betrayals are nothing compared with mine.’


However, the question remained: why did Peter Fenton vanish? It seemed logical to many columnists that ‘betrayals’ referred to love affairs, and there was much speculation that he had run to the comforting arms of a mistress. But this did not explain why his car was found abandoned near a cross-Channel ferry port, nor why he continued in hiding after the inquest verdict had been published. Interest began to centre on his job in the Foreign Office and the two postings he had held in Washington (1981–3 and 1985–7), where he was thought to have had access to highly secret information about NATO.


Was it coincidence that Fenton had vanished only weeks after the arrest of Nathan Driberg*1 in America? Why had he made the five-day trip to Washington alone when it must have been clear to him that his wife was deeply depressed? Could it have been a desperate attempt to find out if Driberg was going to talk in order to then reassure Verity that he was safe? For why had she written of ‘betrayals’ before hanging herself unless she had known that her husband was a spy? Parallels were now drawn, not with Lord Lucan, but with Guy Burgess and Donald Maclean, the notorious Foreign Office spies of the 1930s and 1940s, who disappeared in 1951 after being warned by Kim Philby that a counter-intelligence investigation by British and American agencies was closing in on them. Had Peter Fenton, like Donald Maclean, used his position of trust in our Washington Embassy to betray his country?


Sadly, we shall probably never know because, if Peter Fenton was a traitor, then he did it for the money and he is unlikely to resurface as Burgess and Maclean did in Moscow in 1956, claiming a long-standing allegiance to communism. With the sort of wealth that the Driberg syndicate is said to have made, he could have had millions stashed away in Switzerland with which to fund a new identity for himself. But, according to his stepdaughter, Marilyn Burghley, it would be wrong to assume that he benefited from his treachery. ‘You have to understand that Peter adored my mother. I never believed that “betrayals” meant he’d had affairs. Which means, I suppose, that I have to accept he was betraying his country, and that she knew about it. Perhaps he asked her to run away with him, and when she refused, he accused her of not loving him. I think they must have had a terrible row for her to kill herself like that. Whatever the truth, life without her would have been something he couldn’t bear. My mother’s death was a far worse punishment than anything the courts could have given him.’


An examination of Peter Fenton’s earlier life and background sheds little further light on the mystery. Born on 5 March 1950, he was the adopted son of Jean and Harold Fenton of Colchester, Essex. Jean always described him as her ‘little miracle’ because she was forty-two at the time of the adoption and had given up hope of a child. She and her husband were both teachers and lavished time and effort on their son. Their reward was a gifted child who won scholarships first to Winchester and then to Cambridge, where he read classics. However, he became gradually estranged from his parents during his teenage years, spending fewer vacations in Essex and preferring whenever possible to stay with friends in London. There is evidence that he resented his humble background and set out to rise above it. He showed little love for his adoptive parents.


In a letter to his brother in 1971, Harold Fenton wrote: ‘Peter has broken Jean’s heart and I shall never forgive him for it. When I tackled him about his gambling, he asked me if I’d rather he stole to buy his way out of our lives and our house. He’s ashamed of us. Apparently, he intends joining the Foreign Office when he leaves Cambridge and he wanted to “warn” us that we will see very little of him once that happens. His career must come first. I asked him if he had any explanation for why God saw fit to bless us with so objectionable a child and he said: “I made you proud. What more did you want?” I would have struck him had Jean not been present.’


Peter Fenton joined the Foreign Office from Cambridge in 1972, and was spotted early by Sir Angus Fraser, then ambassador in Paris. With Fraser’s backing, Fenton seemed set for a glittering career. However, his marriage to Verity Standish in 1980 was seen by many as a mistake, and his meteoric rise looked like faltering. Verity, a widow with two teenage children, was thirteen years older than Fenton and, because of her age, was considered an unsuitable wife for a future ambassador. Interestingly, in view of what he had said to his father ten years earlier, Fenton chose to put his love for Verity before his career, and his decision would seem to have been vindicated when he won his first posting to Washington in September 1981.


There followed seven years of apparently blameless marriage and dedicated work. Fenton was awarded the OBE in 1983 for services to Her Majesty’s Government during the Falklands War, and Verity proved a loyal wife and much-sought-after hostess for official functions. Her children, who spent their vacations with the couple in whichever part of the world they were, remember Fenton with affection. ‘He was always very kind to us,’ said Verity’s son, Anthony Standish. ‘He told me once that he always thought money and ambition were the only things that mattered in life until my mother showed him how to love. That’s why I don’t believe he was a traitor. The money wouldn’t have attracted him. If you want my opinion, it was she who was having the affair. She was the sort of woman who needed constant demonstrations of love, probably because my real father was a womanizer and their marriage had been an unhappy one. Perhaps she felt neglected because Peter was working so hard at that time, and she slid into infidelity by default. If Peter found out about it and threatened to leave her, it would explain why she hanged herself.’


But, unfortunately, it explains nothing else. Why did Peter Fenton vanish? Is he alive or dead? Was he a spy, a philandering husband or a cuckold? Can we really believe that love for Verity transformed him from ambitious materialist to loving husband and stepfather? And, if he loved her as much as his stepchildren claim he did, what did he do before he left for Washington that sent his wife into such a spiral of despair that she killed herself? More intriguingly, in view of its anonymity and the absence of an envelope, was Verity’s suicide note addressed to him or to someone else?


The truth may well lie in what Jean Fenton wrote in her diary on his fifth birthday: ‘How Peter does love acting. Today he’s playing the part of the perfect child. Tomorrow it will be the devil. I wish I knew which of these various Peters is the real one.’
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The Case of the Absconding Merchant Banker – James Streeter


James Streeter was born on 24 July 1951, the elder son of Kenneth and Hilary Streeter of Cheadle Hulme in Cheshire. He was educated at Manchester Grammar School and Durham University, where he read modern languages. On graduation, he took a job in Paris with Le Fournet, a French merchant bank, where he remained for five years before moving to a sister bank in Brussels. While there, he met and married Janine Ferrer, but the marriage lasted less than three years and, following his divorce in 1983, he returned to Britain to take a job with Lowenstein’s Merchant Bank in the City of London. In 1986 he married a promising young architect who was seven years his junior. Kenneth and Hilary Streeter describe the marriage as a stormy one. They had very little in common,’ admits Hilary, ‘which led to rows, but it’s ridiculous to suggest that depression over his marital problems prompted James to become a thief. In any case, if the police are to be believed, he began embezzling a year before his marriage, so the facts don’t even add up. It makes us so angry that our son’s reputation can be destroyed like this simply because the police have taken everything at face value. It’s his murderer who deserves to be reviled, not James.’


Taken at face value, James Streeter’s disappearance is as self-explanatory as Lord Lucan’s for, within days of deserting his desk at Lowenstein’s Merchant Bank on Friday, 27 April 1990, and in his absence, he was charged with defrauding his employers of £10 million. The case against him appears a strong one. Only weeks before he vanished, certain irregularities were noticed by the bank’s auditors and were drawn to the attention of the board. At issue was a £10 million discrepancy which seemed to stem from Streeter’s department and, worse, to stretch back over a period of five years. In simple terms, the theft involved the creation of fraudulent accounts which were set up as conduits for large international transactions and then creamed of interest. Their operation relied on the bank’s failure to introduce proper security functions into its computer system, with the result that the false accounts went unnoticed and the interest creamed over the years was substantial.


The board’s decision, a mistaken one as events proved, was to authorize a clandestine in-house investigation in order to avoid panicking the bank’s customers. It was badly handled, with its secrecy compromised from the start, and the outcome was a failure to identify the responsible employee, while at the same time alerting him/her to the existence of the investigation. When James Streeter chose to run on the night of 27 April, the conclusion drawn was that he had ‘got away’ with a fortune, particularly as his abrupt departure followed within hours of the board’s reaching its belated decision to turn the investigation over to the police.


However, despite lengthy questioning of his wife and a prolonged investigation into his financial affairs, no trace of Streeter or the stolen money has ever been found. Sceptics argue that his escape route was in place for weeks, months or even years, and that the £10 million were transferred out of the country into a safe haven abroad. Supporters, most notably his parents and brother, argue that James was a scapegoat for someone else’s criminal activity and that he was murdered to shield the real culprit from further investigation. In defence of their position, they quote a handwritten facsimile that was sent from James’s office at 3.05 p.m. on Friday, 27 April 1990, to his brother’s office in Edinburgh.





Dear John [it reads], Dad’s pushing me to book a room for the Ruby Wedding ‘do’. He’s suggesting the Park Lane, but I remember Mum saying that if they ever celebrated a major anniversary she’d like to go back to the hotel in Kent where they had their reception. Am I imagining this? And did she ever mention the name of the hotel to you? Dad says it was somewhere in Sevenoaks but, needless to say, can’t remember details. He claims his memory’s going but I suspect he was pissed as a rat the whole day and never knew where he was! I’ve tried the aunts and uncles, but none of them can remember either. Failing all else, I think we’ll have to blow the surprise and ask Mum. You know what she’s like. It’ll offend her Puritan soul if we spend a fortune on something she doesn’t really want, and then she won’t enjoy herself. I know it’s still a long way off, but the earlier we book the less likely we are to be disappointed. I shall be home all weekend, so give me a bell when you can. I’ve told Dad I’ll call back Sunday lunchtime. Cheers. James.





‘Whatever the police may argue,’ says John Streeter, ‘my brother would not have written that fax if he was planning to leave the country the same evening. There were a hundred better ways of allaying official suspicion about his alleged intentions. More likely he’d have referred to the visit that I and my family were making to him in May. “See you in two weeks” would have been far more telling than “give me a bell when you can.” And why mention Dad? He couldn’t afford to have two members of his family worried about nonexistent phone calls.’


The police take a more sceptical view. They cite the climate of suspicion that already existed in Lowenstein’s and James’s need to neutralize concern about his movements that weekend. Despite the supposed secrecy of the bank’s in-house investigation, most of the employees noticed that security had been stepped up and that reports and transactions were being closely monitored. Gossip was rife and at least two people in Streeter’s department are on record as saying they knew before he disappeared that some kind of fraud had been discovered and that suspicion centred on them. If, as the police believe, Streeter was biding his time until the investigation became serious enough to force him to run, then the fax to his brother was merely part of the smoke-screen he threw up to confuse the Lowenstein investigation. Almost every telephone call in the weeks preceding his disappearance contained invitations to business colleagues to meet on dates in April, May and June. His wife told police that around the beginning of April James became uncharacteristically sociable, encouraging her to organize dinner parties and weekend visits from friends, work colleagues and relations until well into July.


According to the police, he was working to a hidden agenda. They point to the fact that his secretary was instructed very early on in the ‘clandestine’ investigation to keep his desk diary up to date with social engagements, including private ones, and it is noticeable that April, May, June and July 1990 are significantly fuller than in the previous year. His brother admits this behaviour was unusual. ‘Yes, we were surprised when they invited us to stay because James always said he found entertaining boring. The police argue that it was a successful attempt to lull the investigators into believing he had no idea the fraud had been discovered and would still be available for questioning through to July. But it is equally logical to argue that, because he was as worried by the rumours as everyone else at Lowenstein’s he acted out of character in trying to prove his commitment and dedication. Certainly, he wasn’t the only employee to up his work schedule during that period and most of those diary dates refer to business meetings.’


His family go on to quote Streeter’s computer illiteracy as further evidence of his innocence in this unsolved mystery. ‘James simply didn’t have the skill to work that fraud,’ says John. ‘His complete aversion to modern technology became something of a joke over the years. He could use a calculator and a fax machine but the idea of him being able to reprogram the bank’s computer is laughable. When and where did he learn how to do it? He had no computer at home, and no one has ever come forward claiming to have taught him.’


But others have raised doubts about Streeter’s alleged ignorance. There is evidence that he had an affair with a woman called Marianne Filbert, who was employed as a computer programmer by Softworks Limited. Softworks was invited to produce a report on Lowenstein’s computer security in 1986, but they failed to complete the task and the report was never presented. James Streeter’s detractors point to Marianne Filbert’s access to that half-completed report as the key to the fraud, while his supporters dispute that he even knew Filbert. Alleged or otherwise, the affair was certainly over before the fraud was discovered because Filbert moved to America in August 1989. However, James Streeter’s secretary has stated that on several occasions she found him using her word processor for personal correspondence, and colleagues testify to his easy understanding of the computer spreadsheet function. ‘It took him no time at all to find an error I’d made,’ claimed one member of his department. ‘He said any fool could work the system if someone told him which buttons to press.’


Nevertheless, there remain several unanswered questions about James Streeter’s disappearance which, in the opinion of this author, have never been adequately addressed. If we assume he was guilty of embezzling £10 million from Lowenstein’s Merchant Bank, how did he know that the decision to involve the police was taken by the board on 27 April? The police allege that he had always planned to abscond if his fraud came to light and it was mere coincidence that his escape was scheduled for the day of the decisive board meeting. But, if that were true, why did he wait out the six weeks of the in-house investigation? Unless he had access to board documents, which the police admit is unlikely, then he could not have known the investigation was failing. And isn’t it pushing the bounds of coincidence a little far that the last weekend in April, as recorded in James’s office diary, was also the only weekend in April when his wife would be away, fulfilling a long-standing engagement with her mother, thus giving James – or someone else – two whole days to ‘make good’ his disappearance before his absence was reported?


The police argue that he chose that weekend to run because his movements could not be monitored, and that he would have gone whatever decision the board had reached, but this is to ignore the relationship that existed between James and his wife. According to Kenneth, one of the reasons the marriage was stormy was because the two people involved had more commitment to their careers than they had to each other. ‘If James had said he had to fly to the Far East on Friday for a business meeting the following Monday, his wife wouldn’t have turned a hair. That was what their lives were like. He didn’t need to choose the one weekend she was away. Her absence only becomes important if someone else chose it.’


The police argument also ignores the fax James sent to his brother: ‘I shall be home all weekend, so give me a bell when you can. I’ve told Dad I’ll call back Sunday lunchtime.’ The fact that John did telephone, but wasn’t worried when there was no answer, may, as the police claim, have been entirely predictable, but it was a strange gamble for a guilty man to take. If we put that beside Kenneth Streeter’s claim, tested and verified by a lie detector, that James promised to phone him on the Sunday with John’s contribution to the Ruby Wedding debate, then the gamble becomes entirely unnecessary. Had John and Kenneth followed up the promised telephone calls, then James’s absence might have been discovered earlier.


The Streeters’ defence of their son relies heavily on a conspiracy theory – someone more highly placed than James and with access to privileged information manipulated decisions and events to avoid exposure – but without evidence to prove their case, their campaign to clear their son’s name seems a hopeless one. Sadly, conspiracy theories work better in fiction than they do in real life, and on any objective reading of the evidence the conclusion must be that James Streeter did steal £10 million before running away and leaving his family to reap the bitter harvest of his betrayal.





Despite the Streeters’ claims to the contrary, both James Streeter and Peter Fenton would appear to be genuine abscondees. They were mature men with settled backgrounds whose disappearances were bound to cause a stir within their communities and so provoke exhaustive investigations. However this is not true of the next two ‘missing persons’: Tracy Jevons, a troubled fifteen-year-old with a known history of prostitution; and Stephen Harding, a backward seventeen-year-old with a string of convictions for car theft. . .









 



Chapter Two


SIX MONTHS later, in the middle of a cold, wet December when flaming June and its sweltering heat were a distant memory, Mrs Powell was telephoned by a journalist from the Street, a self-styled politically left-of-centre magazine, who was compiling a feature on poverty and the homeless and wondered if she would agree to do an interview about Billy Blake. He gave his name as Michael Deacon.


‘How did you get this number?’ she asked suspiciously.


‘It wasn’t difficult. Your name and address were all over the newspapers six months ago and you’re in the telephone book.’


‘There’s nothing I can tell you,’ she said. ‘The police knew more about him than I ever did.’


He was persistent. ‘I won’t take up much of your time, Mrs Powell. How about if I came round tomorrow evening? Say, eight o’clock.’


‘What do you want to know about him?’


‘Whatever you can tell me. I found his story very moving. No one seemed to be interested in him except you. The police told me you paid his funeral expenses. I wondered why.’


‘I felt I owed him something.’ There was a short silence. ‘Are you the Michael Deacon who used to be with the Independent?’


‘Yes.’


I was sorry when you left. I like the way you write.’


‘Thank you.’ He sounded surprised, as if compliments were a rarity. ‘In that case, surely I can persuade you to talk to me? You say you felt you owed Billy something.’


‘Except I don’t have the same liking for the Street, Mr Deacon. The only reason someone from that magazine would want to interview me about Billy would be to score cheap political points off the government, and I refuse to be exploited in that way.’


This time the silence was at Deacon’s end while he reassessed his strategy. It would be helpful, he thought, if he could put an age and a face to the quiet, rather controlled voice of the woman he was talking to, more helpful if he genuinely believed this interview would produce anything of value. In his view the whole exercise was likely to be a waste of time and he was even less motivated than she was to go through with it. However. . .


I don’t make a habit of exploiting people, Mrs Powell, and I am interested in Billy Blake’s story. Look, what have you got to lose by seeing me? You have my word that we’ll abandon the whole thing if you don’t like the way the interview’s going.’


‘All right,’ she said, with abrupt decision. ‘I’ll expect you tomorrow at eight.’ She rang off without saying goodbye.


*


The Street offices were a tired reminder that its namesake, Fleet Street, was once the glorious hub of the newspaper industry. The building still carried the masthead above its front door, but the letters were faded and cracked and few passers-by even noticed them. As with most of the broadsheets which had moved into cheaper, more efficient premises in the Docklands, the writing was on the wall for the Street, too. A new dynamic owner with ambitions to become a media tycoon waited in the shadows with plans to revamp the magazine by achieving lower costs, improved production and a twenty-first-century image through one galvanizing leap into pristine property in an outer London suburb. Meanwhile the magazine struggled on with outmoded work practices in elegant but impractical surroundings under an editor, Jim Pearce, who hankered after the good old days when the rich exploited the poor and everyone knew where he stood.


JP, still ignorant of what awaited them in the first few weeks of the new year (in his case enforced early retirement) but increasingly worried about the present owner’s refusal to discuss anything that smacked of long-term strategy, sought out Deacon in his office the following afternoon. The only concessions to modernity were a word processor and an answering machine; otherwise the room looked as it had done for thirty years, with purple walls, an oak-panelled door covered in sheets of cheap white hardboard to smooth out unsightly bumps, and orange floral curtains at the window, all of which were the height of interior design in the heady, classless days of the 1960s.


‘I want you to take a photographer with you when you interview Mrs Powell, Mike,’ said Pearce in the belligerent tone that grew more ingrained as each worrying day passed. ‘It’s too good an opportunity to miss. I want tears and breast-beating from a Thatcherite who’s seen the light.’


Deacon kept his eyes on his computer screen and continued typing. At six feet tall and weighing over thirteen stone, he wasn’t easily bullied. In any case, he’d lied to Mrs Powell, and he didn’t particularly want her to know it. ‘No way,’ he said bluntly. ‘She did a runner the last time photographers turned up looking for pictures, and I’m not giving up precious time to go out and interview the silly cow only to have her slam the door in my face when she sees a camera lens.’


Pearce ignored this. ‘I’ve told Lisa Smith to go with you. She knows how to behave, and if she keeps the camera out of sight till she’s inside, the two of you should be able to talk Mrs Powell round.’ He cast a critical eye over Deacon’s crumpled jacket and five o’clock shadow. ‘And, for Christ’s sake, smarten yourself up, or you’ll give the poor woman the screaming habdabs. I want a rich, well-fed Tory weeping over the iniquities of government housing policy, not someone scared out of her wits because she thinks a middle-aged mugger’s come through her door.’


Deacon tilted his chair back and regarded his boss through half-closed lids. ‘It won’t make any difference what her blasted political affiliations are because I’m not including her unless she has something pertinent to say. She’s your idea, JP, not mine. Homelessness is too big a social problem to be cheapened by one fat Tory weeping into her lace handkerchief.’ He lit a cigarette and tossed the match angrily into an already overfull ashtray. ‘I’ve sweated blood over this and I won’t have it turned into a slanging match by the subs. I’m trying to offer some solutions here, not indulge in yah-boo politics.’


Pearce prowled across to the window and stared down on a wet, grey Fleet Street where cars crawled bumper to bumper in the driving rain and the odd window showed an ephemeral gaiety with lighted Christmas trees and sprayed-on snow. More than ever he had a sense of chapters ending. ‘What sort of solutions?’


Deacon searched through a pile of papers on his desk and removed a typed sheet. ‘The consensus sort. I’ve taken views from politicians, religious leaders and different social lobby groups to assess how the picture’s changed in the last twenty years.’ He consulted the page. ‘There’s across-the-board agreement that the figures on family breakdown, teenage drug and drink addiction and teenage pregnancies are alarming, and I’m using that agreement as a starting point.’


‘Boring, Mike. Tell me something new.’ He watched a progression of raised black umbrellas pass below the window, and he was reminded of all the funerals he’d attended over the years.


Deacon took in a lungful of smoke as he studied JP’s back. ‘Like what?’


‘Tell me you’ve got a statement from a government minister saying all single mothers should be sterilized. Then maybe I’ll let you off your interview with Mrs Powell. Have you?’ His breath misted the glass.


‘No,’ said Deacon evenly. ‘Oddly enough, I couldn’t find a single mainstream politician who was that stupid.’ He squared the papers on his desk. ‘How about this for a quote? The poor are always with us and the only way to deal with them is to love them.’


Pearce turned round. ‘Who said that?’


‘Jesus Christ.’


‘Is that supposed to be funny?’


Deacon gave an indifferent shrug. ‘Not particularly. Thought-provoking, perhaps. In two thousand years no one’s come up with a better solution. Certainly no politician anywhere at any time has managed to crack the problem. Like it or not, even communism has its share of paupers.’


‘We’re a political magazine, not an apologist for born-again Christianity,’ said JP coldly. ‘If mud-slinging offends you so much, then you should have kept your job on the Independent. Think about that the next time you tell me you don’t want to get your hands dirty.’


Thoughtfully, Deacon blew a smoke ring into the air above his head. ‘You can’t afford to sack me,’ he murmured. ‘It’s my byline that’s keeping this rag afloat. You know as well as I do that until the tabloids raided my piece on the health service for scare stories about chaos in the A. and E. departments 99.99 per cent of the adult population of this country had no idea the Street was still being published. I’m a necessary evil as far as you’re concerned.’


This was no exaggeration. In the ten months since Deacon had joined the staff, the circulation figures had begun to show a modest increase after fifteen years of steady decline. Even so, they were still only a third of what they had been in the late seventies and early eighties. It would require something more radical to revitalize the Street than the occasional publicity that one writer could generate, and in Deacon’s view that meant a new editor with new ideas – a fact of which JP was very aware.


His smile held all the warmth of a rattlesnake’s. ‘If you’d written that story the way I told you to, we would have benefited from the scare stories and not the sodding tabloids. Why the hell did you have to be so coy about identifying the two children involved?’


‘Because I gave my word to their parents. And,’ said Deacon with heavy emphasis, ‘I do not believe in using pictures of severely damaged children to sell copy.’


‘They were used anyway.’


Yes, thought Deacon, and it still made him angry. He had taken great pains to keep the two families anonymous, but cheque-book journalism had seduced neighbours and friends into talking. ‘Not because of anything I did,’ he said.


‘That’s mealy-mouthed crap. You knew damn well it was only a matter of time before someone sold out.’


‘I should have known,’ corrected Deacon, squinting through the smoke from his cigarette. ‘God knows I’ve spent enough time listening to your views on the subject. You’d sell your granny down the river for one more reader on the mailing-list.’


‘You’re an ungrateful bastard, Mike. Loyalty’s a one-way street with you, isn’t it? Do you remember coming here and begging me for a job when Malcolm Fletter bad-mouthed you round the industry? You’d been out of work for two months and it was doing your head in.’ He levelled an accusing finger at the younger man. ‘Who took you on? Who prised you out of that flat and gave you something to think about other than the self-induced misery of your personal life?’


‘You did.’


‘Right. So give me something in return. Smarten yourself up, and go chase pictures and quotes off a fat Tory. Put some spice into this article of yours.’ He slammed the door as he left.


Deacon was half-inclined to pursue his irascible little boss and tell him that Malcolm Fletter had offered him his job back on the Independent less than two weeks previously; however, he was too soft-hearted to do it.


JP wasn’t the only one who had a sense of chapters ending.





Lisa Smith whistled appreciatively when Deacon met her outside the offices at seven thirty. ‘You look great. What’s the occasion? Getting married again?’


He took her arm and steered her towards his car. ‘Take my advice, Smith, and keep your mouth shut. I’m sure the last thing you want to do is rub salt in raw wounds. You’re far too sweet and far too caring to do anything so crass.’


She was a beautiful, boisterous 24-year-old with a cloud of fuzzy dark hair and an attentive boyfriend. Deacon had lusted after her for months, but was too canny to let her know it. He feared rejection. More particularly he feared being told he was old enough to be her father. At forty-two, he was increasingly aware that he’d been abusing his body far too long and far too recklessly. What had once been lean, hard muscle had converted itself into alcoholic ripples that lurked beneath his waistband and escaped detection only because pleated chinos disguised what skin-tight jeans had formerly enhanced.


‘But you’re a different man when you take a little trouble, Deacon,’ she said with apparent sincerity. ‘The enfant terrible image was quite sweet in the sixties, but hardly something to cultivate into the nineties.’


He unlocked the doors and waited while she stowed her equipment on the back seat before folding her long legs into the front. ‘How’s Craig?’ he asked, climbing in beside her.


She displayed a diamond hoop on her engagement finger. ‘We’re getting married.’


He fired the engine and drew out into the traffic. ‘Why?’


‘Because we want to.’


‘That’s no reason for doing anything. I want to screw twenty women a night but I value my sanity too much to do it.’


‘It’s not your sanity that would crack, Deacon, it’s your self-esteem. You’d never find twenty women who were that desperate.’


He grinned. I wanted to marry both of my wives until I’d gone through with it and discovered they paid more attention to my bank statements than they did to my body.’


‘Thanks.’


‘What for?’


‘The congratulations and the good wishes for my future.’


‘I’m merely being practical.’


‘No, you’re not.’ She bared her teeth at him. ‘You’re being bitter – as usual. Craig is very different from you, Mike. For a start, he likes women.’


I love women.’


‘Yes,’ she agreed, ‘that’s your problem. You don’t like them but you sure as hell love them as long as you think there’s a chance of getting them into bed.’ She lit a cigarette and opened her window. ‘Has it never occurred to you that if you’d actually been friends with either of your wives you’d probably still be married?’


‘Now you’re sounding bitter,’ he said, heading towards Blackfriars Bridge.


‘I’m merely being practical,’ she murmured. I don’t want to end up as lonely as you.’ She held the tip of her cigarette to the crack in the window and let the slipstream suck out the ash. ‘So what’s the MO for this evening? JP says he wants me to capture this woman’s emotions while you ask her about some dead wino she found in her garage.’


‘That’s the plan.’


‘What’s she like?’


‘I’ve no idea,’ said Deacon. ‘The nationals ran the story in June but, bar her name, which is Mrs Powell, and her address, which is expensive, there were no other details. She did a vanishing act before the rat-pack arrived and, by the time she came back, the story was dead. JP’s hoping for late fifties, immaculate grooming, strong right-wing political affiliations and a husband who’s a stockbroker.’





Mrs Powell was certainly immaculately groomed but she was twenty years short of late fifties. She was also far too controlled ever to display the sorts of emotion that Lisa was hoping for. She greeted them with a brisk, professional courtesy before showing them into an impeccable sitting-room which smelt of rose-petal pot-pourri and had the clean, spare look of designer minimalism. She clearly liked space, and Deacon rather approved of the cream leather and chrome chairs and sofa that formed an island about a low glass coffee table in the middle of a russet-coloured carpet. Beyond them an expanse of window, framed by draped but undrawn curtains, looked across the Thames to the lights on the other side. There was very little else in the room: only a series of glass shelves above tinted glass cabinets which clearly contained a stereo system; and three canvases – one white, one grey and one black – which adorned the wall opposite the shelves.


He nodded towards them. ‘What are they called?’


‘The title’s in French. Gmvure à la momiere noire. It means mezzotint in English. They’re by Henri Benoit.’


‘Interesting,’ he said, glancing at her, although it wasn’t clear if he was referring to the canvases or to the woman herself.


In fact he was thinking that her taste in interior design sat rather oddly with her choice of house. It was an uninteresting brick box on a new estate in the Isle of Dogs which would probably be billed in estate agents’ jargon as ‘an exclusive development of detached executive homes with views of the river’. He guessed the house to be about five years old, with three bedrooms and two reception rooms, and put its value at well outside an average price range. But why, he wondered, would an obviously wealthy woman with interesting taste choose something so characterless when, for the equivalent money, she could have had a spacious flat anywhere in the heart of London? Perhaps she liked detached houses, he thought rather cynically. Or views of the river. Or perhaps Mr Powell had chosen it.


‘Do sit down,’ she said gesturing towards the sofa. ‘Can I get you something to drink?’


‘Thank you,’ said Lisa, who’d taken an instant dislike to her. ‘Black coffee would be nice.’ In the scheme of feminine competition, Mrs Powell oozed success. She appeared to have everything – even femininity – and Lisa looked around for something to criticize.


‘Mr Deacon?’


‘Do you have anything stronger?’


‘Of course. Whisky, brandy, beer?’


‘Red wine?’ he suggested hopefully.


‘I’ve a 1984 Rioja open. Would that do?’


‘It would. Thank you very much.’


Mrs Powell disappeared down the corridor and they heard her filling the kettle in the kitchen.


‘What’s with black coffee, Smith,’ murmured Deacon, ‘when there’s alcohol on offer?’


I thought we were supposed to be behaving ourselves,’ she whispered. ‘And, for Christ’s sake, don’t start smoking. There are no ashtrays. I’ve already looked. I don’t want you putting her back up before she agrees to the photographs.’


He watched her critical appraisal of the room. ‘What’s the verdict?’


‘JP was right about everything except her age and her husband. She’s the stockbroker. I’ll bet the Mrs is a courtesy title to give her some status in a male-dominated world. There’s no sign of a man living here. It’s all too uncomfortable and it doesn’t half stink of roses. She probably sprayed the room before we arrived.’ She turned her mouth down. ‘I hate women who do that. It’s a kind of one-upmanship. They want to prove their house is cleaner than yours.’


He lifted an amused eyebrow. ‘Are you jealous?’


‘What’s to be jealous of?’ she hissed.


‘Success,’ he murmured, holding a finger to his lips as they heard Mrs Powell returning.


‘If you want to smoke,’ she said, passing a coffee cup to Lisa and a glass of red wine to Deacon, ‘I’ll find you an ashtray.’ She put her own wine glass on the table near an armchair and looked at them both.


‘No, thank you,’ said Lisa, thinking of JP’s instruction.


‘Yes, please,’ said Deacon, doubting he could stand the scent of rose petals for an hour. He wished Lisa hadn’t mentioned them. Once noticed, the smell was cloying, and he was reminded of the second Mrs Deacon who had plundered his very mediocre fortune in order to dowse herself in Chanel No. 5. It had been the shorter of his two marriages, lasting a mere three years before Clara had cleared off with a twenty-year-old toyboy and rather too much of her husband’s capital. He took the china saucer Mrs Powell handed him, then placed a cigarette between his lips and lit it. The smell of burning tobacco immediately swamped the roses, and Deacon felt guilt and satisfaction in equal measures. He left the cigarette jutting from his mouth as he took a tape recorder and a notebook from his pocket and placed them on the table in front of him. ‘Do you mind if I record what you say?’


‘No.’


He set the tape in motion and reluctantly broached the subject of photographs. ‘We’d like a small visual to accompany the piece, Mrs Powell, so have you any objections to Lisa photographing you?’


She stared at him as she sat down. ‘Why would you want photographs of me if you’re planning to write about Billy Blake, Mr Deacon?’


Why indeed? ‘Because in the absence of pictures of Billy, which we’ve established don’t exist,’ he lied, transferring the cigarette to the ashtray, ‘I’m afraid you’re the next best thing. Is that a problem for you?’


‘Yes,’ she said flatly. ‘I’m afraid it is. I’ve already told you I have no intention of being used by your magazine.’


‘And, as I told you, Mrs Powell, I don’t make a habit of using people.’


She had ice-blue eyes which reminded him of his mother’s, and that was a shame, he thought, because in other respects she was quite attractive. ‘Then surely you agree that it’s absurd to illustrate an article on poverty and the homeless with a picture of a woman who lives in an expensive house in an expensive part of London.’ She paused for a moment, inviting him to speak. When he didn’t she went on: ‘In fact, there are pictures of Billy Blake. I have two which I’m prepared to lend you. One is a mugshot from when he was first arrested and the other was taken in the mortuary. Either would illustrate poverty better than a photograph of me.’


Deacon shrugged but didn’t say anything.


‘You said you were interested in Billy.’


She sounded put out, he thought, and that made him curious, for he’d been a journalist long enough to recognize that Mrs Powell was keener to tell her story than he was to hear it. But why now, when she hud refused to talk to the press at the time? That question intrigued him. ‘No pictures of you, no story, I’m afraid,’ he said, reaching forward to switch off the tape. ‘Editor’s instructions. I’m sorry to have wasted your time, Mrs Powell.’ He looked with regret at his untouched wine. ‘And your Rioja.’


She watched him as he began to gather his bits and pieces together, clearly weighing something in her mind. ‘All right,’ she said abruptly, ‘you can take your photographs. Billy’s story needs to be told.’


‘Why?’ He shot the word at her as he depressed the record button a second time.


It was a question she had prepared for. The words came out so fluently that he was sure she’d rehearsed the answer in advance. ‘Because we’re in terrible trouble as a society if we assume that any man’s life is so worthless that the manner of his death is the only interesting thing about him.’


‘That’s a fine sentiment,’ he said mildly, ‘but hardly very newsworthy. People die in obscurity all the time.’


‘But why starve to death? Why here? Why does nobody know anything about him? Why had he told the police he was twenty years older than he actually was?’ She searched his face intently. ‘Aren’t you at all curious about him?’


Of course! Curiosity wormed like a maggot in his brain, but he was far more interested in her than he was in the man who had died in her garage. Why, for example, did she take Billy’s death so personally that she was prepared to be exploited in order to have his story publicized? ‘Are you sure you didn’t know him?’ he suggested with apparent indifference.


Her surprise was genuine. ‘No. Why would I need answers if I’d known him?’


He opened his notebook on his lap, and wrote: Why does anyoneneed answers about a complete stranger six months after his death? ‘Which would you prefer,’ he asked, ‘that Lisa takes her photographs before we talk or while we’re talking?’


‘While.’


He waited as Lisa unzipped her bag and removed her camera. ‘Do you have a Christian name, Mrs Powell?’


‘Amanda.’


‘Do you prefer Amanda Powell or Mrs Powell?’


I don’t mind.’ She frowned into the camera lens.


‘A smile would be better,’ said Lisa. She snapped the shutter. Click. ‘That’s great.’ Click. ‘Could you look at the floor? Good.’ Click. ‘Keep your eyes cast down. That’s really touching.’ Click, click.


‘Go on, Mr Deacon,’ said the woman curtly. ‘I’m sure you don’t want me to be sick over my own carpet.’


He grinned. I prefer Deacon or Mike. How old are you?’


‘Thirty-six.’


‘What do you do for a job?’


She glanced at him as Lisa took another photograph. ‘I’m an architect.’


‘On your own or with a firm?’


‘I’m with W. F. Meredith.’ Click.


Not bad, he thought. Meredith was about as good as you could get. ‘What are your political affiliations, Amanda?’


‘None.’


‘How about off the record?’


She gave a faint smile which Lisa caught. ‘The same.’


‘Do you vote?’ She caught him watching her, and he looked away.


‘Of course. Women fought long and hard to give me that right.’


‘Are you going to tell me which party you usually vote for?’


‘Whichever I think will do the least damage.’


‘You seem to have little time for politicians. Is there a particular reason for that or is it just fin-de-siècle depression?’


The faint smile again as she reached for her wine glass. ‘Personally, I’d hesitate to qualify a huge abstract concept like fin-de-siècle depression with “just”, but for the purposes of your article it’s as truthful as anything else.’


He wondered what it would be like to kiss her. ‘Are you married at the moment, Amanda?’


‘Yes.’


‘What does your husband do?’


She raised the glass to her lips, momentarily forgetting the camera lens pointing at her, then lowered it with a frown as Lisa took another photograph. ‘My husband wasn’t here when I found the body,’ she said, ‘so what he does is irrelevant.’


Deacon caught the look of amused cynicism on Lisa’s face. ‘It’s human interest,’ he countered lightly. ‘People will want to know what sort of man a successful architect is married to.’


Perhaps she realized that his curiosity was personal, or perhaps, as Lisa had guessed, there was no Mr Powell. In either case, she refused to expand on the matter. ‘It was I who found the body,’ she repeated, ‘and you have my details already. Shall we continue?’
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